DESIGN LANDSCAPE: ONLINE COLLECTION INTERFACES

Discovery & User Research Phase

About this report series

This report is part #3 in a series documenting the research process and practice of Lozana Rossenova, a PhD researcher embedded at Rhizome between 2016–2020. These reports trace the development of a practice-based interaction design research project, starting with a Discovery and User Research Phase. This phase includes the study of the organizational context and history, documented in Report #1; gathering information about past and current use-cases and user expectations, documented in Report #2, as well as a review of the current landscape of digital design for cultural heritage archives and collections, documented in Report #3. The next phase—Design Exploration, including low-fidelity sketches and prototypes and continuing the conversations with users, is documented in Report #4. This report also includes a summary of the Evaluation Phase, since it is an iterative process throughout the other phases, rather than one final step. The final outcomes of the Design Specification Phase, wherein the initial design proposals are transformed into interactive prototypes and specific recommendations for a data model schema, can be found under the Prototypes and Data Models sections of the PhD portfolio website, respectively.

About the researcher

Lozana Rossenova is a digital designer and researcher, and a PhD candidate at London South Bank University's Centre for the Study of the Network Image. Her PhD is a practicebased collaboration with Rhizome. Lozana is particularly interested in working with open source and community-driven approaches to infrastructure, which organizes, stores and makes cultural heritage data accessible. Her current research focuses on born-digital archives and born-digital art. Her PhD project develops design methods which build understanding across diverse communities of practice and facilitate informed interaction, favoring nuance and complexity over reductive simplification.

This research is made possible through funding from the AHRC in the UK and additional support by Rhizome.







Contents

| Executive summary | 3 |
|--|-----|
| Introduction | 7 |
| 1 Interfaces for net art archives | 11 |
| 2 Interfaces for artwork records in institutional collections | 21 |
| 3 Interfaces for collection entry points | 41 |
| 4 Interfaces utilizing collection overview visualizations | 57 |
| 5 Interfaces for linked data cultural projects | 71 |
| 6 Interfaces utilizing data visualizations to express relationships in collections | 89 |
| 7 Interfaces for net art exhibitions | 97 |
| Summary and recommendations | 115 |
| Bibliography | 132 |

Executive summary

Introduction

This report reviews the landscape of digital collection interfaces utilized for cultural heritage preservation purposes (as of 2018). It asks questions such as: What are the common visual and interaction design paradigms in the field?; How do forms of information architecture or choice of databases and content management systems inform user interactions with these interfaces? This report does not claim to be a comprehensive state-of-the-art survey.

Methods

The study used a range of methods for selecting interfaces to be reviewed. Conducting user research—asking users about which collection interfaces they access often, reviewing existing academic literature, as well as attending relevant talks and demonstrations at profession or academic conferences proved to be key. This report acknowledges the selection's bias towards interfaces accessible in English and institutions based in the Europe (predominantly UK) or the US, due to the researcher's own academic position and access to resources.

Selected interfaces are represented via sample screenshots, and are captioned with their respective URL addresses and dates of reference. Visuals are supplemented by short analysis and specific elements are highlighted as design feature cards (designed to be used in conjunction with the user story cards from Report #2). The focus is not on a creating a detailed taxonomy of all design elements of each interface, but rather to identify specific elements, which could prove relevant to other collection interface use-cases in general, and the ArtBase specifically.

Structure of the report

This report is divided into sections, reflecting different strands of inquiry—all relevant to the new ArtBase interface:

- 1. Interfaces for net art archives
- 2. Interfaces for artwork records in institutional collections
- 3. Interfaces for collection entry

- 4. Interfaces utilizing collection overview visualizations
- 5. Interfaces for linked data cultural projects
- 6. Interfaces utilizing data visualizations to express relationships in collections
- 7. Interfaces exhibiting net art

The report concludes with a mapping exercise, which links design feature cards from all seven sections to the User Story cards in Report #2, and recommends ways these suggestions could be implemented in the ArtBase re-design.

Key findings and recommendations

The report highlights 46 different interfaces, ranging from institutional to experimental projects. The design feature cards extracted from these have been assorted into categories relating to: the general structure of the data in the archive; discovery and entry into the collections; the single-record-level page and its metadata; and finally, to exhibiting net art online. The report recommends several of the suggestions summarized on the feature cards to be implemented in the new design prototypes for the ArtBase, not just because they map to specific user stories, but because they can facilitate many of the requirements identified throughout the Discovery and User Research Phase. These recommendations include:

► A linked data database: facilitating complex relationships between items in the database (and across databases), as well as complex search queries within the database.

► Explorable terminology: providing richer metadata around conservation procedures or technical dependencies.

Capacity for contradiction: making it possible to add new metadata to the database alongside existing metadata statements, and to use data provenance information to differentiate, but not erase potential contradictions.

Expression of relations: making explicit links between various items in the linked data database, such as those which share exhibition histories, or have common technical dependencies.

► Links to pre-set queries: providing one-click access to other records in the ArtBase with shared visual characteristics, material properties, provenance or histories. ► SPARQL query GUI¹: serving complex research needs without extensive data science expertise.

► **Single-object timeline:** providing temporal context, versioning and preservation history metadata for digital cultural heritage.

Metadata related to literature and events: providing additional temporal and historical context around artworks, such as exhibitions and reviews.

Metadata clustering: providing granular access to data.

► Access statement: helping users know what to expect before they access different variants of net art works.

Emulated environments: providing users of the ArtBase with access to complex, dynamic artworks in environments appropriate to their historical contexts.

► Overlay state for contextual information: providing additional context alongside artwork reperformances, within a granular approach to data presentation.

Including the browser frame (in thumbnail or static screenshot representations): providing historical context around net art works, which is often integral to the user experience of the works.

¹ SPARQL is an acronym for SPARQL Protocol and RDF Query Language. It is an RDF query language, i.e., a semantic query language for databases, and is able to retrieve and manipulate data modelled in RDF (Resource Description Framework, a standard for linked open data modelling). GUI is an acronym for Graphical User Interface.

Introduction

Problem statement

Research into interface design for online collections and digital cultural heritage preservation is underway in various settings, but remains somewhat fragmented (see Bibliography). Those surveys which aim to be comprehensive, are necessarily more narrowly focused on a specific strand of inquiry, for example, the use of data visualization, design for serendipitous discoveries and browsing, or design for advanced search utilities. While all of these topics are interesting in their own right, they do not provide all the necessary reference points for benchmark evaluation needed for the redesign of the ArtBase.

This report reviews the landscape of digital collection interfaces (as of 2018) and asks questions such as: What are the common visual and interaction design paradigms in the field?; How do forms of information architecture and choice of databases or content management systems inform user interactions with these interfaces? Of particular interest are areas in the design of interfaces focusing on the presentation of complex born-digital artifacts, metadata around temporal and historical context, as well as discovery and search within the framework of a linked data database.

Methods for selection and analysis

The methods of selecting interfaces for review included conducting user research (asking users about collection interfaces they access often), reviewing existing academic literature, and attending relevant talks and demos at professional or academic conferences. The decisions about how to group and discuss interfaces in sections relate to the existing context of the ArtBase archive (an archive of net art, a Wikibase instance, a linked data database), balanced against the primary focus of the research project which is the presentation of the individual artwork record and related records, and the potential need for future research into collection-level visualizations and query-capabilities.

Selected interfaces are represented by screenshots (with respective URL addresses and dates of reference). Visuals are supplemented by short analysis and specific elements are highlighted as design feature cards (designed to be used in conjunction with the user story cards from Report #2). The focus is not on a creating a detailed taxonomy of all design elements of each interface, but

rather to identify specific elements, which might be relevant to other collection interface use-cases in general, and the ArtBase in particular.

Structure of the report

The report presents an overview of the landscape divided into sections, reflecting different strands of inquiry—all relevant to the new ArtBase interface:

- 1. **Interfaces for net art archives:** this section focuses on other net art archives online, how they present artworks and metadata.
- 2. Interfaces for artwork records in institutional collections: this section expands on the previous one by broadening the scope beyond net-artonly collections to include collections in larger institutions which may have some net art or software-based art pieces. This section also includes some institutional interfaces which utilize relevant design patterns, although not dealing specifically with born-digital art.
- 3. **Interfaces for collection entry points:** taking a step back from the individual record page, this section considers how collections and archives can be accessed.
- 4. **Interfaces utilizing collection overview visualizations:** this section focuses on the use of various data visualization approaches towards providing alternative collection or archive entry points.
- 5. Interfaces for linked data cultural projects: having looked at how item records are represented in general institutional interfaces, as well as the various entry points into these interfaces (including those that utilize data visualizations), this section focuses on projects which use applications specifically built around a linked data database. This section, therefore, provides guidance as to how applications such as Wikibase (the linked data system underlying the ArtBase archive) might be utilized for cultural heritage purposes.
- 6. Interfaces utilizing data visualizations to express relationships in collections: this section focuses on a specific strand of collection data visualization—how data visualization techniques, in combination with a linked data database, can provide ways to express complex relationships between various items (or concepts) in the archive or collection.
- 7. Interfaces exhibiting net art: this final section looks beyond interfaces built for archives and collections, focusing instead on the exhibition format. How can net art be exhibited online and what paradigms are typically used? The section highlights features which might useful for the reperformance platforms Rhizome is developing in addition to the main archival interface.

Limitations of the method

This landscape overview does not claim to be a comprehensive state-of-the-art survey. Such a survey would require a larger research team, and broader time framework. The review here was conducted over several months in 2018. Some of the interfaces (and attendant notes) may be outdated by time of publishing.

To mitigate the effects of link rot, in addition to providing the original source URLs for the interfaces under review, this report is complemented by a web archive collection of all referenced interfaces, which can be accessed at: https://conifer.rhizome.org/lozana_r/collection-design-landscape

The net art exhibitions referenced in section 6 of this report are available as separate, complete web archive collections, listed under each exhibition's respective title here: https://conifer.rhizome.org/lozana_r/

A further limitation of the research method is the bias of the selection towards interfaces accessible in English, and managed by institutions based in Europe (mostly UK) or the US. This reflects the researcher's own academic position and the reach of possible collaborations from her current network. Goals for future extensions of this research include more international collaborations that can extend the cultural reach and relevance of the survey.²

² Some discussions for possible expansions of scope have already started. See: https://twitter.com/phivk/status/1256931372486340608?s=20

1 Interfaces for net art archives

Archive of Digital Art (active)



Example view of an artwork record: Screenshot previews and keyword categories are featured near the top of the page.

公



| AXIS AP | PLET BY GOLAN LEVIN × | | | | • |
|--|--|--|---|---|---|
| \leftarrow \rightarrow C \triangleq Secure | e https://www.digitalartarchive.at/database/gen | eral/work/axis | | ☆ | : |
| Informatio | n | Descripti | ons & Essays | | |
| Axis Applet«, | Levin > . 2002 | enter proje artport.whi Scroll dowr results. Please adju Museum A Commissio | act here: <u>itney.org</u> In to the bottom of the code to launch its ist your <u>Java Security Settings</u> for Whitney rtport, in order to launch the Programme. ned by the Whitney Museum. | Î | |
| | | ADA Commi | inity Team 16-06-2015 | | |
| Technolog | у | Comment by Indeed, as M | y John Klima: 1artin said, VERY competent programming, | | |
| SOFTWARE JAVA applet | | runs like a cl that Golan u projection, r you think it o the sense of very "profes ADA Commu Archive of D ADA Commu Comment by Your piece is | harm and is a pleasure to look at. I notice ises the "official" United Nations map ather than a strict lat/lon projection. Don't over-emphasizes Europe and Africa? I love Thumor (if you can call it humor) and the sion <u>read more</u> unity Team: Axis Applet, 16-06-2015, in: igital Art unity Team 16-06-2015 y Scott Snibbe: | | |
| Literature | | | Exhibitions & Events | | |
| | Marchese, Francis T »Software Archaeolog Preservation of Code-based Digital Art.« In of Archiving Conference 2013, edited by Society | gy and the Proceedings for Imaging | 2003 Exhibition : »CODeDOC II« | Î | |

Example view of an artwork record: Additional metadata available for the record is grouped in categories near the bottom of the page.

Reference URL: https://www.digitalartarchive.at Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14

Notes: Participants in some of the user studies found parts of the metadata presented here useful; in particular, elements such as essays, literature, or exhibitions and events related to a specific artworks (where such data was available).

Turbulence (legacy database)



Collection overview: Thumbnails of the projects are ordered chronologically.



•••

🗅 text_ocean | Turbulence

≡ turbulence

Q Search or filter





A Random Access Reading of Moby Dick

— September 2015 —

by Zannah Marsh

Supported by Jerome Foundation

<u>text_ocean</u> is an experiment in random access reading and text visualization, using Herman Melville's notoriously impenetrable whalefishery epic 'Moby Dick' as source material. Selections of the text are blown apart and become a dynamic sea of words, animated according to grammatical function. A new text selection appears each time the browser is refreshed.

> Example view of an artwork record: A prominent access point, title, description and few other metadata entries are featured near the top of the page.

Reference URL: http://turbulence.org

Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14

Notes: Participants in the user studies did not find the collection overview particularly useful, nor the metadata provided with each artwork record sufficient.

.

☆

Media Kunst Netz (legacy database)

| | Media Art Net Bureau of Invei | se Te | chnolo | pgy [| oit]: E | BIT PI | | _ | | _ | | _ | | | _ | | | 1 |
|----|--|------------|------------|--------|---------|--------|----------------|---------|---------|---------|-----|----|--------|----|----|----------|----|---|
| lo | ot Secure www.medienkunstnetz.de/works/bit-plane/ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | DE | UTSCH | E | ngLISI | | HELP | - 2 | | | | | | | | | |
| | Medien Media | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | .Kunst .Art | <u>8</u> 2 | £ | 5 | 8 | 5 | 3 | ċ | 2 | 4 | 2 | • | 8 | 2 | 25 | 8 | 2 | |
| | | <u>s</u> : | <i>1</i> . | 5 | 25 | 25 | 3 | * | 1 | | 25 | * | | 22 | 28 | | 3 | |
| | | | w | RK | BIG | GRAPH | IV I | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | - | | Burea | au of | Inver | se Te | chnol | ogy [b | oit] | | | | | | | | |
| | | | «B | T PL | ANE» | anth | reed | aniaal | a hu dh | | | | 2 | 3 | | | | |
| | | | Sili | con V | alley | USA. | The B | ureau | of In | verse | | | \sim | 2 | æ | | 2 | |
| | | | Te | chnolo | ogy, a | n Info | the F | on ag | ency, | deplo | ys | | | | | | | |
| | | 99 | 32 |) on t | his m | ission | deep | into t | he gl | itterin | g | | | | | | | |
| | Barris and a la la star and a star and | | hea | art of | the S | ilicon | Valle | y, to i | invest | igate | the | | | 3 | - | | 9 | |
| | and the second of the second | | pro | BIC22 | UI UI | e iniu | inaci | UII Ag | ς. | | | | | | | | 5 | |
| | | 24 | Bu | reau o | of Inve | erse T | echno | ology [| bit] | | | | | | | | | |
| | bit plane flies over | | | | | | | | | | | | | 34 | 1 | | | |
| | THE REAL PROPERTY AND A RE | 10 | 1 | 2 | 2 | | 3 | | ÷ | а. С | 9 | | | 3 | | - | 4 | |
| | | 12 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | ν. | | | * | 4 | ~ | a. | | | | 74 | 4 | | 14 | | |
| | | 14 | 2 | 2 | | 2 | \overline{x} | ~ | 26 | - | 2 | 4 | 74 | | 14 | | 14 | |
| | | 67 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 18 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | 8 | 8 | | 8 | 3 | 3 | 4 | 3 | | | 9 | | |
| | Bureau of Inverse Technology [bit], «BIT PLANE», 1999 | | | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 | | | 2 | | 74 | 2 | 3 | 1 | 1 | 2 | |
| | Solean of myerse recimology [bir] | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | - | 2 | 5 | • | | | ě. | • | | | 2 | 8 | | 8 | | | |
| | RELATED LINKS CREDITS | | 2 | ÷ | | 2 | 8 | ×. | | 2 | | ÷ | 8 | 4 | | | | |
| | Relevant passages: | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | A Inke Arns "social Technologies Deconstruction, subversion, and the utopia of democratic communication." | 1 | 24 | 2 | • | ۰. | 8 | * | 3 | | | | 1 | 3 | 1 | ँ | | |
| | | | 0 | * | 2 | 5 | | | | | 1 | | | | | | | |
| | %a 2≣c | | | | | | | | | ż | | | 2 | 2 | | | 2 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Example view of an artwork record 1: Features include image thumbnail, short description and related citations.

Metadata related to literature & events



| | | | | | , | | | ¥ | | - | | | |
|--|----------|-------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|------------|---------------|-----------------|-----------|------------|---|-----|-----|
| Modion Mo | dia | | | | | | DEUTSCH | ENGLISH | HELP | - E | | | |
| Kunet Art | ula | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Notz No | Ċ. | · · · | · · · | | | | | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Netz Ne | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | - | | - | | |
| | | | | | | | WORK | PIOCROPHY | | | | | |
| 🛞 <nettime> sound (self, DSA</nettime> | volci, " | older/ide.mov", I, Al | TN_IDLE); wa - Netscop | | | _(#) × | Nº 1 | bio di li i i i | | | | | |
| 0000 | | ttp://ansterdan.rettine | orglats Archives/hettine- | -0110/mag00125.html | C Q Search | 8.0 | Jodi | • •• •• | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | «walkmons | ter_start () | » | | | | |
| Content-Type: Cest/p1 | ing the | rest="us-astii" | | | | Ê | Un October | ZZ, 2001, J | oai put | an | | | |
| | | | | | | T I | extensive t | ext onto the | interna | mod to | | | |
| fod ug/models/soldier | 5 | | | | | | bo a critica | Longent (| lext see | mporary | | | |
| fbase base fskin skin | | | | | | | political cri | ses and war | s and th | e way | | | |
| Iframe soldiers | | | | | | | they were a | discussed on | cultura | l | | | |
| frame soldierd | | | | | | | platforms of | n the Web. | But abo | ve all. | | | |
| 1. | | | | | | | the text tu | ned out to l | be an in | pressive | | | |
| */ | | | | | | | poetic worl | . The milita | ry orde | r of | | | |
| void() scmy_fice; | | | | | | | linguistic a | nd typograpi | hical fea | atures | | | |
| vold() army_stand1 | - (| fmoldiero, | ecwy_stend2 | 1 | | | gave the te | xt the appea | arance o | of an | - | | |
| vold() army_stand2 | -1 | fmoldiero, | army_stand3 | 3 | | | obsessively | encoded inv | entory/ | or a | | | |
| vold() atwy_stand) | =1 | fmoldlerg, | acwy_stand4 | 1 | | | strategic di | agram or pla | an. Read | ders who | | | 1 |
| void() army_stand4 | -1 | feoldiere, | army_stand5 | 1 | | | know both | English and | program | nming | | | |
| void() army_stand5 | -t | fsoldiere, | army_stand6 | 1 | | | languages v | vere also ab | le to se | e that the | | | 1 |
| void() army_stand6 | -1 | fsoldiero, | army_stand? | 1 | | | poem is a f | unctional so | urce co | de in the | | | |
| void() army_stand? | -1 | Isoldiero, | srey_stand8 | 1 | | | programmi | ng language | C. Inde | ed, the | | | |
| void() army_stands | -1 | fmoldiero, | ermy_stend1 | 1 | | | text is one | part of a sol | urce coo | ie or | | | |
| (al_stank();)) | | ter ter en e | and the second second | | | | Jodi's untit | ed game. II | he com | ns based | - | 1 | |
| 1f (candom() < 0.2) | -1 | fsoldlerc, | army_walkz | 1.0 | | | computer of | ame Quake | By bold | ling back | | | |
| al_walk(1)))) | CRAN_VOI | ce, -solaiee/ia | te.wav-, 1, ATIN_ | LUCK) / | | | the informa | ane Quake. | ts origin | and | | | |
| (ai_valk(1))) | -1 | teoldiere, | acmy_valk3 | 1 | | - | function. J | di's e-mail | made vi | sible the | | | |
| S G A G D Des | | | | | | 「あった」の | esthetical a | ind political | subtext | is of | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Jodi, «walkmo | nster_ | _start ()», 2 | 001 | | | | seemingly r | eutral sequ | ences o | f | | | |
| Screenshot © | Jodi | | | | | | technical c | ommands. | | | | 1 | 1 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 1 | · · | · · · | | | | (Source: Flo | orian Crame | r, «Disc | ordia | | | 1 |
| RELATED LINKS | | CREI | DITS | | | | Concors: w | ww.jodi.org | ,» in: [p | lugin] / | | | |
| | | | | | | | Tilman Bau | mgärtel / Bi | iroFried | lrich | | | |
| Categories: | nterne | et | | | | | (eds.), Inst | all.exe-Jodi, | Basel, | 2002) | | | |
| 🛍 Keywords: 🕻 | omput | er graphic | Interface Ma | terial | | | | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Relevant par | sader | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Inke Arns «R | ead m | e, run_me, es | xecute, me. C | ode as Executable Te | kt: Software Art and it | s Focus on | | | | · · · | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Program Code a | Perfo | rmative Text | » | | | | | | | | | | |
| i rogram coue a | , rentu | annative reat | ··· | | | • | | | 1.1 | · · | | 1.1 | 1.1 |

Example view of an artwork record 2: Features include image thumbnail, short description and 'Related links', such as keywords, citations, as well as other works by the same artist.

Reference URL: <u>http://www.mediakunstnetz.de</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

 \equiv

runme.org (legacy database)

| ••• | runme.org - s | ay it with soft | wan × + | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|---|
| $\leftarrow \ \ \rightarrow \ \ G$ | Not Sec | ure runm | e.org/keyword: | | | | | | • |
| runme.or | g - saý it v | vith softw | /are art! 🚉 | | | | search | | |
| front latest feat | ured I categorie: | l keywords I | news archive I sul | omit a project I | read me festiv | val I about I fag I feed | back | | |
| keyvorde 1960s 1960s 1960s 1960s 1960s 1960s 1967 3d abbree activ | collaborative community concentual community consciunas constraints constraints conviolat constraints conviolat database | firefox finah folk formalist found.object fractal fractal fractal foundry eenergic eenergic elitch eenergic een | knming labor labor linus linus linus linus linus lossi | P2P enamencia enamencia enamencia passionate patterns enformance performative performative philosophica plavino plavino plavino plavino plavino plavino patterns patt | Arthon radio radio radio realword relaxing relaxing relaxing relaxing resources semulations resources semulations semulations semulations semulations semulations semulations semulations simulation simulation social soci | surveillance symplicella symplicella systemin takibo takibar technika terrorism terrorism terrorism terrorism terrorism terrorism terrorism takibo terrorism t | newcomers. sign up here. login email password login fargol your password2 alses projects notice fargol your password2 alses projects notice fargol your password2 alses projects NO 000,000 abden passis Executed from the Chronistics Executed from the Chronistics Executed projects NO NA (Sector Sector | | |

Collection overview by keywords.



Example view of an artwork record.





Collection overview by categories.

Reference URL: http://runme.org

Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: One participant in the user studies commented on this site and its creative use of categories and keywords for organization. This approach, however, is only sustainable when information is consistently provided by artists within a purpose-built framework for artists' submissions. The early history of the ArtBase followed a similar path, but the ArtBase later developed different collection policies.

2 Interfaces for artwork records in institutional collections

Tate (UK)



Example view of an artwork record: An image slideshow is featured near the top of the page.

র্ম Access statement



Example view of an artwork record: Descriptive text and other metadata available for the record are featured near the bottom of the page.

Reference URL: <u>https://www.tate.org.uk</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: Tate classify all their born-digital artworks as time-based media and use the field "medium" (which is part of the traditional museum CMS structure) to record basic requirements for the artwork performance such as "single screen" or "color". The discrepancy between dimensions and durations reveals the limits of the CMS in use in the gallery, which only serves traditional items in the collection. The "Not on Display" disclaimer can be argued to serve as an access statement.

MoMA (US)



Example view of an artwork record 1: An image slideshow is featured near the top of the page.

Example view of an artwork record 1: Structured metadata is featured near the bottom of the page. There are also links to suggested query results for related works at the right hand side of the page.



Example view of an artwork record 1: Licensing information is provided near the bottom of the page.

record 1: There is also an

or suggest corrections.



Reference URL: https://www.moma.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

The Museum of Modern Art

Open today, 10:30 a.m.-5:30 p.m. 11 West 53 Street, Manhattan

Notes: MoMA group their born-digital artworks in categories such as "website" and "software". Information on "medium" varies widely across these artwork categories without an apparent consistent pattern of application. It appears to function as a catch-all field in the CMS. The discrepancy between dimensions and duration reveals same traditional-media bias in the CMS here, as seen in the Tate example. The use of structured metadata allows the construction of natural language 'suggestions' for queries which produce lists of related results. The invitation to the public to contribute (albeit via email, rather than database login) is a growing trend in US cultural institutions.

MoMA PS1 Open today, 12:00-6:00 p.m.

22-25 Jackson Avenue, Oue

4

MoMA (US) continued



Example view of an artwork record 2: Image, text description and links to related queries are featured near the top of the page.

Reference URL: https://www.moma.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Whitney Museum of American Art (US)



Example view of an artwork record: Only an image thumbnail and minimal amount of metadata for the record are provided.

☆ N/A Reference URL: <u>http://collection.whitney.org</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: The medium is given as "website (HTML)", but there are no other fields where more detailed preservation or performance-related information can be provided. The dimensions field here, once again, reveals the limits of the CMS in use in the museum, which serves traditional items in the collection better.

Guggenheim (US)



Example view of an artwork record: Representative image, descriptive text and some metadata elements are featured near the top of the page.

公 N/A

😑 🔍 🔄 Brandon

× +

C https://www.guggenheim.org/artwork/15337

Shu Lea Cheang Brandon



In 1993 Brandon Teena (born Teena Renae Brandon), a young transgender man, was raped and murdered in Nebraska when it was discovered that he was anatomically female. Shu Lea Cheang's 1998 work **Brandon** is a multifaceted web project that uses the nonlinear and participatory nature of the Internet as a means to explore and illuminate Brandon Teena's tragic story. From the opening image of morphing gender signifiers, Cheang propels the viewer into a probing investigation of human sexuality. It is an inquiry that utilizes hyperlinked images of a disembodied human form, once-live chat rooms on the subject of crime and punishment, and graphic moving images in order to illuminate the wide-reaching effect of Brandon's life and death. Exploiting the highly mutable "skin" of the Internet, Cheang reveals how this emerging virtual environment enables individuals to inhabit and play with different gender roles and characters. A prime example of "cyberfeminism," Brandon utilizes technology as a means to break down social assumptions about gender in both the realm of technology and in society at large.

Originally presented in conjunction with the Society for Old and New Media (DeWaag) in the Netherlands, *Brandon* was not only a website, but for one year also served as a social and academic space through which a broad audience communicated both casually and as participants in a number of organized events. Staged in physical spaces but broadcast and represented online, two notable events, "Digi Gender Social Body: Under the Knife, Under the Spell of Anesthesia" and "Would the Jurors Please Stand Up," blurred the distinctions between online and offline platforms and highlighted the far-reaching capabilities of the early Internet.

Notable for being the Guggenheim Museum's first official engagement with the then-emerging medium of Internet art and one of the first works of this medium commissioned by a major institution, *Brandon* is often cited as a watershed moment for the movement and for its important place in the history of contemporary art. ARTIST <u>Shu Lea Cheang</u> b. 1954, Taiwan

TITLE Brandon

DATE <u>1998–99</u>

MEDIUM Interactive networked code (html, Java, Javascript and server database)

DIMENSIONS dimensions vary with installation

CREDIT LINE

Solomon R. Guggenheim Museum, New York Commissioned by the Solomon R. Guggenheim Museum, and produced in association with the Waag Society for Old and New Media, The Institute on the Arts and Civic Dialogue at Harvard University, and The Banff Centre, with additional funding from The Bohen Foundation, The Rockefeller Foundation, the New York Foundation for the Arts, and the Mondriaan Foundation

ACCESSION

COPYRIGHT © Shu Lea Cheang

ARTWORK TYPE Internet Art

MOVEMENT Networked art

Example view of an artwork record: Descriptive text and other metadata elements continue further on the page.

Reference URL: https://www.guggenheim.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: As with other museum interfaces, the "dimensions" metadata field here once again is of no use. The metadata field "medium" here is used to provide some high level of technical information, but as noted in discussion with conservators, this information can quickly become outdated and won't necessarily hold true for preserved variants of the artwork. This interface uses the field "artwork type" to differentiate internet artworks from other works in the collection such as paintings, sculptures, etc. There is also a "movement" term associated with the artwork. This latter field is something curators might assign to artworks they have selected for collection acquisition, but is likely to be harder to define with a collection driven by artists' submissions.

ର୍ ★ 👼 🌔

SFMOMA (US)



Example view of an artwork record: A representative image occupies the top of the page.

کک Access statement



Example view of an artwork record: Several relevant metadata elements, as well as more works by the artist, are featured near the bottom of the page.

Reference URL: https://www.sfmoma.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: The work here is classified as "digital media". The metadata field "medium" is used only to imply the work is web-based—"web project". The "permanent URL" is a new element not present in other museum interfaces, but is crucial for all web-based works. Also the "status" of the artwork is made more explicit as part of the metadata record, which is helpful. In comparison, Guggenheim's restored version of Brandon is only accessible from a text link in the artwork description (without even revealing the URL of the link). Making the access point a clear statement, part of the metadata record, is a much more effective user interaction pattern. Admittedly, some of the other museum interfaces provide a label, such as "not on display" or "not on view", which is also a form of access statement, but they don't actually make the works available online, which is the ArtBase's aim.

Jacob's Pillow Dance Archive (US)



Example view of an artwork record: Video representation featured at the top of the page.

∽ Metadata in collapsed sidepanel



Example view of an artwork record: Relevant metadata elements are available as an expandable/ collapsible sidepanel on the right side of the browser window.

Reference URL: https://danceinteractive.jacobspillow.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: While not an archive containing digital art, this archive was suggested by a participant in the user studies as a rare example of a performing arts archive. The collapsible metadata sidepanel is a relevant interaction pattern for a design framework presenting artwork reperformances in the ArtBase, e.g. via Webenact or emulated representations.

Cooper Hewitt (US)



Example view of an artwork record: Image representation, followed by title, timeline, and a description compiled as natural language from structured data statements, are all featured near the top of the page.



Example view of an artwork record: Links to suggested related works are featured further down the page.


Example view of an artwork record: Citation information and video documentation are featured near the bottom of the page.



Example view of an artwork record: Additional administrative metadata (identifiers and licensing) is also provided at the end of the record page.

| COOPER HEWITT | SEARCH THE COLLECTION Q | MENU | |
|------------------|--|------|--|
| | Ten Thousand Cents is a digital rendering of a \$100 bill created from individually crowdsourced drawings. | | |
| | This object was previously on display as a part of the exhibition Making Breaking: New Arrivals. | | |
| | Short URL http://cprhw.tt/o/75k4g/ | | |
| | Accession Number 2014-41-2 | | |
| | Object ID 68743529 | | |
| | This object may be subject to Copyright or other restrictions. | | |
| | You are welcome to make fair use of this image under U.S. Copyright law and in compliance with our terms of use. Please note that you are responsible for determining whether your use is fair and for responding to any claims that may arise from your use. | | |
| | For higher resolution or commercial use contact ArtResource. | | |
| | If you would like to cite this object in a Wikipedia article please use the following template: | | |
| | <pre>«ref name=Ob-{{cite web url=https://collection.cooperhevitt.org/objects/00743529/ titl==Digital P</pre> | | |

Reference URL: https://collection.cooperhewitt.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This museum interface doesn't provide access to born-digital artworks per se, but represents many of the widely-used contemporary paradigms in institutional interfaces. Structured data is utilized to enable multiple relations across the collection to be drawn. Additionally, the natural language descriptions generated from structured data were identified as a positive feature by multiple users during the user research. The timeline for the object history was also identified as useful, but at the same time frustrating due to lack of interactivity. One problem for longer, richer records in this interface, however, appears to be the lack of clustering or any other hierarchy of organization for metadata, as unrelated statements run on into each other without discernable visual distinction (as partly illustrated in the screenshots).

Rijksmuseum (NL)



Example view of an artwork record: High-res image and brief description are featured at the top of the page, alongside other user interaction prompts.



| • • • Inst The Milkmaid, Johannes Vermin X | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| \leftarrow \rightarrow \mathbf{C} $$ Stichting het Rijksmuser | um [NL] https://www.rijksmus | eum.nl/en/rijksstudio/artists/johannes-vermeer/objects#/SK-A-2344,0 🗙 | : | | | | |
| Identification | Title(s) | The Milkmaid | | | | | |
| | Object type | painting | | | | | |
| | Object number | SK-A-2344 | | | | | |
| | Description | Een dienstmaagd staat achter een tafel en schenkt melk uit een melkkan in een kookpot. Op de tafel staat een mand met brood en een stenen kruik, links een venster met een rieten mand en een koperen pot. Onderaan de muur rechts een rijtje tegels en een stoofje. | | | | | |
| Creation | Artist | painter: Johannes Vermeer | | | | | |
| | Dating | c. 1660 | | | | | |
| Material and Technique | Physical features | oil on canvas | | | | | |
| | Material | <u>canvas, oil paint (paint)</u> | | | | | |
| | Measurements | h 45.5 cm × w 41 cm | | | | | |
| Subject | What | • kitchen-maid, kitchen servant | | | | | |
| | | • <u>milkmaid</u> | | | | | |
| | | • <u>milk</u> | | | | | |
| | | • <u>bread, loat</u> | | | | | |
| | | <u>container of ceramics: jar, jug, pot, vase</u> | | | | | |
| Acquisition and rights | Credit line | Purchased with the support of the Vereniging Rembrandt | | | | | |
| | Acquisition | 1908 | | | | | |
| | Copyright | Public domain | | | | | |
| Relations | Related | <u>Glorie van de Gouden Eeuw: De Keukenmeid</u> | | | | | |
| Documentation | Vermeer : the life and wor | r <u>k of a master</u> , J. Henderson, V. Schiferli | | | | | |

Example view of an artwork record: Relevant metadata elements are available as a long list of clusters, which are collapsed by default, but the user can expand by clicking an "Object data" button.

Reference URL: <u>https://www.rijksmuseum.nl</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14

Notes: This museum interface doesn't provide any access to born-digital artworks, but represents many of the widely-used contemporary paradigms in institutional interfaces. Providing different levels of detail at different steps in the user interface (via scroll/ collapsible elements) is a good example of how to cater to a wide variety of use-cases. Clustering relevant data under headings, and making relations explicit and explorable, are also helpful strategies for making large amounts of data more accessible for human reading vs machine processing.

Brooklyn Museum (US)



Example view of an artwork record: Image thumbnail, descriptive text and a list of metadata statements are featured near the top of the page.

RECORD COMPLETENESS

Not every record you will find here is complete. More information is available for some works than for others, and some entries have been updated more recently. Records are frequently reviewed and revised, and we welcome any additional information you might have. The artwork record page also features a "record completeness" statement, which (upon click) explains the variation between records in the collections and invites contributions from the public.

্যু Metadata richness indicator



Reference URL: https://www.brooklynmuseum.org Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14

Notes: This museum interface is included in this review for its use of the concept of record compleness, or richness. This makes the explicit statement that the museum doesn't try to present an absolute truth, but rather that the collection and all archival records are a continuous work-in-progress. Also, this interface invites the public to contribute.

Auckland Museum (NZ)

Example view of an artwork record: Image thumbnail, descriptive text and a list of metadata statements are featured near the top of the page.



The artwork record page also features a "record richness" statement with a gradation of three possible states. The condition of the collection and the possibility of errors or omissions is stated at the bottom of the page, but there is no invitation for public contribution.

OTHER NUMBER COLLECTION AREA RECORD RICHNESS

COLLECTION

PH-ALB-419

heavily damaged leper Cathedral in Belgium.

Indication of record richness

্যু Metadata richness indicator Reference URL: <u>https://www.rijksmuseum.nl</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14 Notes: This museum interface is included in this review for its use of the concept of record compleness, or richness.

3 Interfaces for collection entry points

Victoria & Albert Museum (UK)



Curated selections

Entry point to all collections: Various collection categories, represented via image thumbnail surrogates give a broad overview of collection holdings.

Overviews & previews

Entry point to a specific collection: Limited number of pre-set curated object previews are represented via image thumbnails, with the option to "show more".



Reference URL: <u>https://www.vam.ac.uk</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: This museum interface doesn't provide access to born-digital artworks, but represents some contemporary paradigms in institutional interfaces, specifically the provision of some form of "overviews" and "previews" for what's in the collections. Despite lack of data visualizations, the general approach follows some of the principles of "generous interfaces" (see Whitelaw, 2015).

Tate (UK)



Entry point to the collection: The interface offers overviews (in the form of categories) and previews (via image thumbnail surrogates).



Reference URL: https://www.tate.org.uk

Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This interface offers different ways to 'slice' the collection into categories, but does not take a generous approach in visualizing specific areas of the collection. The search box maintains the most prominent position in the interface.

Cooper Hewitt (US)





Reference URL: https://collection.cooperhewitt.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This interface takes a generous approach. Removing the search box from a central position on the page, it instead previews random items from the collection, which are reloaded each time a user launches the page. Additionally, the descriptive text provides more 'fun' entry points into the collection and conceptually links well to the way users can navigate via the natural language summaries which are generated from the structured data associated with each object.

MoMA (US)

| • • • The Collection MoMA | × + | | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| \leftarrow \rightarrow C $$ https://www.moma. | org/collection/works?class | fications=39&include_uncatalog | ed_works=1&locale=en | | ☆ 층 ● | | | | | |
| | Plan your visit | Exhibitions and eve | ents Art and artist | s Store Q | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search artists and works | ; | | | | ٩ | | | | | |
| Filters A X | | | | | | | | | | |
| Software (72) | | Pre-1850 | through 201 | 8 1 | Recent acquisition | | | | | |
| | | | through 201 | <u> </u> | | | | | | |
| Include uncataloged w | vorks | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Has image | On view | | | | | | | |
| | | \bigcirc | \bigcirc | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Showing 72 out of 79,873 works online | | | | | | | | | |
| | | _ | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| No.2. Mar | | | | No. To come | | | | | | |
| | | | | | available | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| lan Cheng | lan Cheng | Andrew John Hessel. Ja | Andrew John Hessel. Ja | Andrew John Hessel. J | Andrew John Hessel. Ja | | | | | |
| Emissary Forks at Perfe Em 2015 - 2016 | issary in the Squat of 2015 | Synthetic PhiX174 Bacte 2014 | Synthetic PhiX174 Bacto 2014 | Synthetic PhiX174 Bac 2014 | Synthetic PhiX174 Bacto 2014 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Entry point to the collection: The search box is centred at the top of the page. Advanced search is facilitated via filters and previews (with image thumbnail surrogates).

్లు Overviews & previews



Reference URL: https://www.moma.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This interface offers different ways to "filter" the collection via categories and temporal dimensions, but does not take a generous approach in visualizing specific areas of the collection. The search box still holds the most prominent place in the interface.

Whitney Museum of American Art (US)



Entry point to the collection: Some filters and sorting utilities are featured near the top of the page, followed by previews (with image thumbnail surrogates).



Reference URL: https://collection.whitney.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This interface provides very few ways of discovering items in the collection without having a very specific search query (and search is also limited to knowing the exact artwork title or name of the artist). The use of previews does not mitigate this and casual browsing is poorly facilitated.

SFMOMA (US)



Entry point to the collection: Some overviews and previews are provided based on a limited number of categories (e.g. "collecting areas").

☆ Randomization

∽ Overviews & previews

Reference URL: https://www.sfmoma.org Date of screenshots: 2018-11-15

Notes: This interface takes an exploratory approach to the collection offering overviews and previews across a few different categories, but is more limited in scope compared to the V&A and Cooper Hewitt examples. Search box and filters are available as a second step via the "Explore the collection" button. It does feature eight random items from the collection (shown above), which reload every time the user visits the collection entry page.

MIT's Center for Advanced Visual Studies (CAVS) (US)



Entry point to the collection: The collection can be navigated via a randomized 3D environment of collection materials.



Entry point to the collection (cont.).



Entry point to the collection (cont.).



Example view of an item record: An image and minimal amount of metadata represent the item.



Part of: Butler Fountain by Carl Nesjar

Butler Fountain, 1983 Photograph of CAVS Fellow Carl Nesjar's sculpture "The Butler Fountain," for the State University College at Buffalo. Photograph: unknown.

Subjects: Art works, Sculpture, Fountains Format: sculpture (visual works) Holding Institution: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Program in Art, Culture and Technology

Reference URL: http://act.mit.edu/cavs Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: This interface takes a generous approach to giving an overview of the collection—in the form of an experimental 3D viewing plane where order is randomised and categories branch out vertically and horizontally. This is a creative solution to encourage users to interact with what is otherwise primarily static documentation of time-based and performance-based artworks. The work/ documentation records reveal very little metadata and a frustrating aspect of user interaction here is the inability to 'go back' to the 3D environment after opening an item record. Instead, the user is taken back to the opening screen of the collection. There are, however, other more standard ways to browse (or search) lists of work previews which can be sorted and filtered.

Google Arts & Culture



Entry point to all collections: Overviews and previews (with image thumbnail surrogates) are provided based on various categorizations.







Entry point to all collections: Curated selections are also represented as previews (with image thumbnail surrogates).

Reference URL: https://artsandculture.google.com Date of screenshots: 2018-05-14

Notes: While not an institutional interface, this interface aggregates many different institutional collections, as well as additional, specially-commissioned content. It utilizes many of the popular paradigms in collection interface design practices, such as overviews and previews, and curated selections, which minimize the need for direct search, and instead place the focus on exploratory browsing. However, the primary problem with implementation of this approach in an aggregator platform is the danger that each collection's specific cultural context becomes indistinct, or hidden altogether. This can inhibit users' ability to interpret individual collections.

Europeana (EU)



Entry point to all collections.



Reference URL: https://www.europeana.eu Date of screenshots: 2018-09-12

Notes: Despite a recent redesign, the Europeana portal continues to uphold the dominance of the search box as primary navigation paradigm. The desire to emulate the 'Google experience' has been well-documented in research papers on collection interfaces, but when even Google's Arts&Culture portal is moving away from this paradigm, it's surprising that other cultural initiatives are still upholding it. There are some curated selections and additional browsing utilities within the interface, but search remains the primary entry point.

DPLA (US)



Entry point to all collections.



Reference URL: https://dp.la

Date of screenshots: 2018-09-12

Notes: Similar to the Europeana portal, the DPLA portal focuses on search as a primary navigation mode. There are some curated selections and additional browsing utilities, but search remains the primary entry point.

4 Interfaces utilizing collection overview visualizations

The work of Mitchell Whitelaw



Example collection overview interface 1: Items are visualized on a timeline and supplemented by thumbnail previews.



Example collection overview interface 1: Items are visualized based on categories of relations and supplemented by thumbnail previews.



Example collection overview interface 2: Items are visualized on a timeline using abstract surrogate representation.

Example collection overview interface 2: Video screenshot shows the possible interactions with the abstract representations.





Reference URL: http://mtchl.net/category/projects/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: Designer and academic Mitchell Whitelaw developed the generous interfaces concept and design approach (Whitelaw, 2015). His interface design work has been influential among practitioners and researchers in the field. The various data visualization styles and techniques present a compelling overview of a collection's holdings. The only issue to keep in mind with this approach is the inevitable limitation of data visualization when it comes to heterogeneous ('unclean') datasets and the possibility to omit or obscure outliers in the dataset.

Multi-object timeline

 \equiv

The work of Florian Kräutli



Example collection overview prototype: Items are visualized on a timeline and supplemented by thumbnail previews. Additional metadata per item is available on click.



Reference URL: http://www.kraeutli.com/index.php/category/projects/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: Designer and researcher Florian Kräutli has developed numerous collection interface prototypes and data visualizations aiming to tackle various questions around item exploration (particularly in relation to time) in collection interfaces. While these interfaces present dynamic and engaging user experiences, they work well with large collections of materials with visual surrogates (such as digitized image representations) and homogeneous metadata. Implementing such an approach to a highly heterogeneous dataset of born-digital artworks (where relations between time of creation and duration of performativity are more complex) remains limited.

The work of George Oates

Example collection overview interface: Items are visualized on a timeline and some data stats are also included.



Example collection overview interface: Items are visualized on a timeline and supplemented by thumbnail previews.



র্ম Generous interfaces

> ☆ Data viz



Reference URL: http://goodformandspectacle.com/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: Designer George Oates has developed the concept of "spelunkers": explorative interfaces presenting alternative views of collections, or sometimes just sections of collections. Her work often involves creative uses of data (and linked data) to reveal unusual aspects of collections—distinct from the traditional approach of simply listing works by date, author or category. Her approach, however, is bespoke to each individual collection and elements from these interfaces are not necessarily transferable across collections.

Rethinking Guernica



Example timeline view: Events and archival documents all relating to a single artwork are visualized on a timeline, supplemented by thumbnail previews. Additional metadata per item is available on click.



Reference URL: <u>https://guernica.museoreinasofia.es/cronologia/en/</u> **Date of screenshots:** 2018-11-20

Notes: While not strictly a collection overview interface, this interface bears relation to the design examples reviewed so far. This chronological timeline presents a range of events and documents all relating to a single artwork. The project of researching the complex history of Guernica has generated a vast amount of data which benefits from visualization as much as other digital collections. This dynamic data visualization is a useful reference point for the ArtBase, as it sets an example of how a timeline visualization can be useful even if it tracks the history of a single artwork vs visualizations of all artworks in the collection. Data is revealed in different degrees of granularity depending on user interaction.

NYPL Labs

Example collection overview interface 1: Items are visualized on a timeline and supplemented by thumbnail previews.



Example collection overview interface 2: Items are visualized based on color similarity and supplemented by thumbnail previews.





Reference URL: http://publicdomain.nypl.org/pd-visualization/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: NYPL Labs have developed a number of experimental interface prototypes aiming to visualize the collections according to different categories or criteria. A timeline approach is an already standard method for data visualization, which in this particular instance is supplemented by the option to also sort the collection based on color similarity, achieved through advances in computer vision and machine learning.

Google Arts & Culture



 Image: Construction of the sector of the

Overview interface for all items related to a specific artist (or other search term): This view can be sorted by popularity, time periods, or color.



"I can't paint the way they want me to paint and they know that too."

Overview interface for all items related to a specific artist: This view can be sorted by color similarity based on a value within the color palette of the collection overview.

Multi-object timeline



Reference URL: https://artsandculture.google.com/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: Google's Arts & Culture interface offers a few different ways to browse a selection from the collections based on a search term (such as an artist, a movement, a particular institution, etc). As with previous notes on the general platform, the lack of context provided about where the aggregated items come from is problematic in this seemingly 'transparent' approach to presenting collection overviews and previews (see: Bolter & Gromala, 2003, for more on interface transprancy).

Google A&C Experiments: Art Palette



Example view of Art Palette 1: Collection overview with thumbnail previews organized by color palette.



Reference URL: http://act.mit.edu/cavs Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Google A&C Experiments: Curator Table



Example view of Curator Table 1: Collection overview with thumbnail previews presented in a 3-dimensional environment where computer vision and machine learning enable different modes for organizing and structuring collection items.

র Generous interfaces

=

Reference URL: <u>https://artsexperiments.withgoogle.com/curatortable/</u> **Date of screenshots:** 2018-11-20

Google A&C Experiments: Curator Table (cont.)



Example view of Curator Table 2: Collection overview can be narrowed down by search terms and organized by color similarities.



 \mathbf{x}

Sort by color

Example view of Curator Table 3: Zoomed-in view with thumbnail previews provides some contextual information.

 $\mathbf{\hat{x}}$

Multi-object timeline

 \mathbf{X}

Overviews & previews

Google A&C Experiments: t-SNE Map

Example view of t-SNE Map 1: Collection overview with thumbnail previews is mapped on a 3-dimensional landscape. Code Arts & Culture Texter | 15NE Map

Culter Tour



Example view of t-SNE Map 2: Suggested "points of interest" can be used to traverse the collection via a guided route.





 $\mathbf{\hat{x}}$

Sort by color



Notes: Built similarly to the Curator's table experiment, this interface replaces the grid view with a 'landscape' generated through a mix of algorithmic approaches to data visualization. While an engaging way to browse the collection, this type of interface can only support artworks which can be clearly represented by a single digital image. Again, contextual information; including a sense of the artworks' scale, is missing from this experience.
5 Interfaces for linked data cultural projects

British Museum—Research space (UK)



Entry point to the collection data: A graphical user interface (GUI) facilitates the construction of SPARQL queries without prior knowledge of SPARQL or the underlying data structure.



| | rg/resource/?uri=http%3/ | 4%2F%2Fcollection.britishmuseum.org%2Fid%2 | Fobject%2FYCA62958 | |
|--|--------------------------|--|--------------------|--------------------------|
| ResearchSpace | | | Example Reco | rds - Login 😧 |
| Home / The Rosetta Stone, granodiorite, Ptolemaic | .24) | | | |
| The Rosetta Sto British Museum Summary Annotations | DNE, granodi | orite, Ptolemaic (.24) | Object (Man-Made C | Dbject) record, |
| | Field | Value | & Annotations | Assertions |
| | Title | The Rosetta Stone, granodiorite, Ptolemaic (.24) | ٥ | 0 |
| | Description | Part of grey and pink granodiorite stela bearing priestly decree concerning Ptolemy V in three blocks of text: Hieroglyphic (14 lines), Demotic (32 lines) and Greek (54 lines). | O | 0 |
| 44 | Object Type | stela | 0 | 0 |
| | Asset ID | YCA62958 | 0 | 0 |
| | Material | granodiorite (en) | 0 | 0 |
| | Dimensions | Length: 112.3 Centimeter Thickness: 28.4 Centimeter Width: 75.7 Centimeter | 0 | ٥ |

Example view of an item record: Linked data statements are represented in a tabular format (as fields and values).

Reference URL: <u>https://public.researchspace.org</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-22

Notes: This project's interface aims to reveal the capabilities of a linked data database to users unfamiliar with the LOD paradigm. Particularly strong points are the GUI for running queries on the database and the ability to add annotations / assertions to each metadata statement. This functionality is similar to the qualifiers function in Wikidata: it enables the construction of contradictory statements which can co-exist because they are given appropriate sourcing and argumentation as a 'sub-statement'. The underlying data model in this case follows the CIDOC-CRM specification and its argumentation extension.

Max Planck Institute—Sphaera CorpusTracer (DE)

| ••• • \mathcal{D} Sphaera × $\leftarrow \rightarrow C$ O Not Secure db sphaera mniwo-berlin mng de/resource/Statt | | Entry point to the collection: |
|---|---|---|
| Sphaera CorpusTracer Books Persons Places Terms Searc | h Login | collection overview is provide based on two primary record types—books and persons. |
| type to search, minimum 3 symbols | | |
| | | |
| Books | Persons | |
| There are currently 320 books in the database. | There are currently 342 persons in the database. | |
| List all books | List all persons | |
| Recently edited | Recently edited | |
| Title El filosofo. Ocupacion de nobles, y discretos contra la cortesana ociosidad. Sobre los libros de cielo, y Mundo, Meteoros, Parvos Naturales, Ethica, Economica, Politica de Aristoteles, y Esfera de Sacro Bosco. Enitome claro. | Name Jacques Quesnel View | |
| y curioso. Tratanse estas materias con rigor escolastico: y dividense en dos libros, Filosofo Natural, y Filosofo Moral. Por el licenciado Cosme Gomez Texada de los Reyes, Capellan mayor de las Bernardas Descalças, y Patronazgo en S. llefonso de Talavera. Al licenciado Frey Martin Rodriguez de Corrales, del Abito de San Juan, Prior de San Christoval de Salamanca, y Vicario | Name Richard Watkins View | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | ^ | |
| ● ● ● 🖉 Sphaera 🛛 × | | |
| $\epsilon ightarrow \mathbf{C}$ \mathbf{O} Not Secure db.sphaera.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/ | resource/:search 😒 : | Search interface view: This |
| Sphaera CorpusTracer Books Persons Places | Terms Search Login | the SPAPOL query GUL of |
| Home / Search | | Research Space. |
| | | , |
| Book related to | Person Cancel | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| CorpusTracer is based on Metaphactory and ResearchSpace. It has been devel | oped within The Sphere project at the Max Planck Institute for the History of | |

 \mathbf{A}

SPARQL query GUI

 \mathbf{x}

Links to related queries

try point to the collection: A llection overview is provided sed on two primary record es—books and persons.

5 Interfaces for linked data cultural projects

 Δ

Linked data

Example view of an item record: A natural language summary of the structured data is featured alongside an image pulled from Wikimedia Commons via Wikidata.



Example view of an item record: More metadata statements are presented further down on the page.

 \mathbf{x}

Natural language summary generated

from structured data



Reference URL: <u>http://db.sphaera.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/resource/Start</u> **Date of screenshots:** 2018-11-15

Notes: This project builds upon the Research Space platform with some adaptation to fit the context of the collection. The data model used is CIDOC-CRM with the bibliographic extension FRBRoo. The search GUI, relevant preset queries, natural language summaries, and even federation with other open datasets (i.e. Wikidata) demonstrate the benefits of linked data for cultural heritage projects at large.

Wikidata / Wikibase default interface



Example view of an item record 1: The item page features a text label, description, aliases, translations of the label and description, alongside a series of (unordered) statements.

| https://www.wikidata.org/ | /wiki/Q42 | | Q ¥ |
|---------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----|
| country of citizenship | United Kingdom | | |
| | 1 reference | | |
| | stated in | Virtual International Authority File | |
| | VIAF ID | 113230702 | |
| | retrieved | 7 December 2013 | |
| | | | |
| name in native language | Douglas Adams (English) | | |
| | 0 references | | |
| | | | |
| birth name | Bouglas Noel Adams (British | h English) | |
| | 1 reference | | |
| | title | Obituary: Douglas Adams (English) | |
| | publisher | The Guardian | |
| | publication date | 15 May 2001 | |
| | language of work or name | English | |
| | reference URL | http://www.theguardian.com/news/2 | |
| | | 001/may/15/guardianobituaries.boo | |
| | retrieved | 7 December 2013 | |
| | author | Nicholas Wroe | |
| | | | |
| given name | Bouglas | | |
| | series ordinal | 1 | |
| | 2 references | | |
| | stated in | Integrated Authority File | |
| | GND ID | 119033364 | |
| | retrieved | 7 July 2015 | |
| | imported from Wikimedia project | English Wikipedia | |
| | 8 Noël | | |
| | series ordinal | 2 | |
| | 1 reference | | |
| | stated in | Integrated Authority File | |
| | GND ID | 119033364 | |
| | retrieved | 7 July 2015 | |
| | TO DE TOU | | |

Example view of an item record 1: This particular example is often used as a model item to showcase Wikidata capacities; the statements on the page are extremely detailed.



| e nttps://w | w.wikidata.org/wiki/ | Q28050689 | | | | % English & Not logged in Talk Contributions C | Freate # |
|--------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------|--|-----------------|--------|--|----------|
| Item Discuss | DN | | | | Read | View history Search Wikidata | |
| ATA Net A | t Anthology (0 | 028050689) | | | | | |
| online exhi | ition of the history of net art | - / | | | / edit | Wikipedia (0 entries) | |
| ✓ In more | inguages Configure | | | | | | |
| Language | Label | De | scription | Also known as | | Wikibooks (Departice) | |
| item English | Net Art Anthology | / on | ine exhibition of the history of net art | | | WINDOOKS (Vannes) 2 edit | |
| es French | Net Art Anthology | No No | description defined | | | | |
| German | Net Art Anthology | No No | description defined | | | Wikinews (0 entries) dedit | |
| Scots | No label defined | No | description defined | | | | |
| All entered | languages | | | | | Wikiquote (0 entries) dedit | |
| re Statem | ents | | | | | Wikisource (0 entries) dedit | |
| instance | f 🗧 👌 on | line exhibition | | / edit | | | |
| k | c | of | Internet art | | | Wikiversity (0 entries) dedit | |
| uon | | 0 references | | | | | |
| | | o references | | + add reference | | Wikivoyage (0 entries) dedit | |
| | ê an | thology | | / edit | | | |
| | • | 0 references | | + add reference | | Wiktionary (0 entries) dedit | |
| | | | | + add value | | | |
| | | | | 1 400 1400 | | Other sites (0 entries) dedit | |
| inception | ₿ 27 | October 2016 | | 🖉 edit | | | |
| | | 1 reference | | | | | |
| | | | | + add value | | | |
| | ê D | | | A - 51 | | | |
| organizei | ê Hi | | | Ø edit | | | |
| | | U reterences | | + add reference | | | |
| | | | | + add value | | | |
| official w | osite 🗧 htt | tps://anthology.rhizome | a.org/ | 🖉 edit | | | |
| | | 0 references | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

Example view of an item record 2: An item page can also have just a few statements; there are no minimum or maximum metadata requirements.

Reference URL: https://www.wikidata.org/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-22

Notes: The default Wikidata (Wikibase) interface is included here as a point of comparison with other interfaces which have been developed to pull data from Wikidata and present it in alternative ways. While this default interface is primarily intended for machine-reading (rather than human usability), it still sets out some useful paradigms, such as the fact that both properties and items within statements are clickable—thereby enabling horizontal browsing (and also discovery of what these statements mean). As mentioned already in relation to Research Space, Wikidata also allows contradictory statements, which are differentiated via qualifiers. The ways that such contradictions are made visible to users could be made more explicit in the design.





Wikimedia Labs—Reasonator

| C 🔒 https://to | ools.wmflabs.org/reasonator/?&q=4 | 2 | २ 🖈 इ |
|---|---|---|--|
| nator | | Random it | term At English Q Find Othe |
| Doug | as Adams (Q42) | | |
| Douglas N Nráykλac 더클러스 노 (ഡഗ്ലസ് നോ ダグラス - | bel Adams Douglas Noël Adams Douglas N Nóeλ Άνταμς ダグラス・アダムス ਤਗਲਸ ਨੇ ම් ਗੀਏට المحتري المز حضر المز الحز መለመ ആവയന 1日ヨム ਗੀਟਰੇ Nránykac Avr アグムス موموري موريق مي المقادي المقادية | Adams Адамс, Дуглас Дуглас Адамс 亞當斯 Цънији, Դուպլաи टेड ਔडभत्त Дуглас Ноел Адамс олткойхл प्रिचिटो आधि스 إن المحقق الم المحقق المحقق المحقق المعلي المحقق المحقق المحقق المحقق | Po |
| British au | thor and humorist (1952–2001) | | |
| Douglas He was b He studie science fi He marrie Adams. He died c | Adams was a British playwright, screenwr om on March 11, 1952 in Cambridge to Cl d at St John's College from 1971 until 197- tion, comedy, and satire. He was a memb d Jane Belson on November 25, 1991 (ma f myocardial infarction on May 11, 2001 in | ter, novelist, children's writer, science fiction writer, and comedian. ristopher Douglas Adams and Janet Adams. 4 and Brentwood School from 1959 until 1970. His field of work incli er of Footlights. He worked for BBC. rried until on May 11, 2001). His children include Polly Jane Rocket Santa Barbara. He was buried at Hidnoste Cemeterv. | uded |
| | and a second of the second of the second s | and a second of the second of | |
| | | | |
| Relative | s | | Douglas Adams |
| Parents | | Siblings | Writer |
| father | 3 Christopher Douglas Adams | ₽9 ♀ Susan Adams | 1952 - 2001 |
| mother | ⊋ Janet Adams | | |
| Children | | Other | |
| child 9 | Polly Jane Rocket Adams | spouse Q Jane Belson | |
| | | start time : 1991-11-25 end time : 2001-05-11 | 10 mm |
| See the | full family tree: inline/new page | | External sites |
| | roperties | | official website |
| Other p | British Epolish from of the Epolish language upon | in the United Kingdom | $(\bigcirc \bigcirc $ |
| Other pr native language | Difficit English form of the English language used | | |
| Other p native language employer | BBC British public service broadcaster | | |
| Other p native language employer place of burial | BBC British public service broadcaster Highgate Cemetery place of burial in north Long | on, England | AQ |
| Other p native language employer place of burial manner of death | BIC British public service broadcaster Highgate Cerretery place of burial in north Lone f natural causes manner of desth | ion, England | Re |

Example view of a an item record 1: Statements are presented in customized clusters and collapsible elements.





Example view of an item record 1: A timeline of events connected to the item and other related media are featured further down on the page.





Reference URL: <u>https://tools.wmflabs.org/reasonator/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-22

Notes: This experimental interface, aiming to make Wikidata "pretty", implements a number of approaches towards making Wikidata statements more "human-readable". For a small number of record types (i.e. person, place, species, etc) the templates are customized to present data in hierarchical clusters (and even short natural language summaries). Note continued on p.81.

Wikimedia Labs—Reasonator (cont.)

| > C' ≜ ht | ttps://toc | ls.wmflabs.org/reasonator/?&q=28050689 | | | Q | ☆ 👼 | |
|-----------|-----------------------|--|---------------------------------|---------------------------|---------|-------|---|
| asonator | | | Random item | ₫ <u>あ</u> English | Q, Find | Other | Ć |
| N | Vet Art | Anthology (Q28050689) | | Free images Google search | - | | |
| or | nline exhi | bition of the history of net art | External sites official website | | | | |
| | Other prop | perties | * | Wikimedia projects | * | | |
| ir o | nstance of | online exhibition exhibition whose venue is cyberspace of : internet art | | | | | |
| | ncention | anthology collection of creative works chosen by the compiler | | | | | |
| 0 | organizer | Rhizome Born-digital nonprofit organization supporting digital art and culture | | | | | |
| | From rela | ed items | ~ | Concept cloud | | | |
| e | axhibition history | A Cyberfeminist Manifesto for the 21st Century art project point in time : 2016-10-27 | | | | | |
| | | Reabracadabra visual poem by Eduardo Kac point in time : 2016-11-03 | | | | | |
| | | My Boyfriend Came Back From The War Internet artwork by Olia Lialina point in time : 2016-11-10 | | | | | |
| | | The File Room artwork by Antoni Muntadas point in time : 2016-11-17 | | | | | |
| | | FloodNet art project by Electronic Disturbance Theater point in time : 2016-12-01 | | | | | |
| | | Mouchette.org Internet artwork by Martine Neddam point in time : 2016-12-08 | | | | | |
| | | Mezangelle artificial language and art project by Mez Breeze point in time : 2018-12-15 | | | | | |
| | | Form Art internet artwork and art genre by Alexei Shulgin point in time : 2017-01-12 | | | | | |
| | | BIT Plane art project by Bureau of Inverse Technology (BIT) point in time : 2017-01-19 | | | | | |
| | | Heritage Gold art project by Mongrel point in time : 2017-01-26 | | | | | |
| | | Blacklash video game mod and artwork by Mongrel point in time : 2017-02-03 | | | | | |
| | | The Dollie Clone Series artwork by Lynn Hershman Leeson point in time : 2017-02-09 | | | | | |
| | | The Web Stalker Internet artwork by VO/D point in time : 2017-02-16 | | | | | |
| | | LOVE Internet artwork by Group Z point in time : 2017-02-22 | | | | | |
| | | Documenta Done internet artwork by Vuk Ćosić | | | | | |

Example view of a an item record 2: Statements are presented in customized clusters and collapsible elements, notably "related items".



Example view of a an item record 2: A timeline features the related items, via the point-in-time qualifier on the "related" statement.

Notes (continued from p.79): For the majority of records, including the exhibition example above, statements tend to be lumped under "other properties", but a very useful feature is the cluster of "related items", which is retrieved via a SPARQL query. This feature could be extremely useful in the general Wikidata interface as well, because it enriches all item records without the need to create inverse properties. For example, the page for the NAA exhibition in Wikidata features very few statements. However, the same page in Reasonator is far richer, because it retrieves all artworks which have the property "exhibition history" with value "NAA exhibition". This information can then also be rendered in a timeline visualization.

Wikidata for Digital Preservation portal



Example view of an item record: Statements are pulled from Wikidata and presented in a custom-styled interface.



Example view of an item record: There is an option to contribute data directly within the portal via a form to create claims.



Exploratory options: The portal features some links to pre-set Wikidata queries of common interest.

| ••• | WikiDP Home | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|---------------------|--------------|-----------|----------------|----------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------|
| $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ | C 💿 Not Secure wi | kidp.org/rep | | | | | | | * # 0 |
| No. of Concession, Name | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Need a | a descrip | tion summarizi | ng the purpo adipisicir | Report pse of the que ng elit. Reput | tS eries . Loren liandae, und | n ipsum dolor sit an del | |
| | Wikida | ata Qi | ueries | | | | | | |
| | Numb | per of a | softwar | e titles reco | rded | | | | |
| | Numb | per of t | file form | ats recorde | d | | | | |
| | Numb | per of | PRONO | M Unique Id | entifiers re | ecorded | | | |
| | Numb | per of t | file sign | atures desc | ribed | | | | |
| | Numb | per of | emulato | rs recorded | | | | | |
| | Numb | per of t | file syst | ems recorde | ed | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Reference URL: <u>https://artsandculture.google.com/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-20

Notes: The Wikidata for Digital Preservation portal is a Python-based interface visualizing data from Wikidata. Unlike Reasonator, which functions as an overlay to the entire Wikidata database, this portal is specific to data related to software items and file formats. Record pages feature a checklist in a sidebar panel, which is designed to encourage contributions by explicitly exposing which metadata is recommended to be there, but is currently missing. Contributing data is made easier (compared to other interfaces such as Reasonator), by providing a quick-to-fill-out form within the portal, without the need to log-in or even go to Wikidata. But at the record-page level, this interface doesn't fundamentally change the interaction paradigms of Wikidata's generic interface. Metadata is presented without any particular hierarchy or clustering. Finally, the portal also features links to pre-set Wikidata queries of common interest. This is a useful feature, which could be utilized more in other linked data interfaces as a way to encourage exploration and/or avoid the need for a SPARQL GUI.

Science Stories



Example view of a "story", dedicated to a person's record.



Example view of a "story": The interface uses the IIIFcompliant Mirador image viewer to display images from open collections.

ン Linked data





Example view of a "story": The Mirador viewer can be used to display other media objects too, such as books or videos.

Example view of a "story": A customized timeline view is rendered based on statements contained in the Wikidata record page.





∽ Open source

Reference URL: http://www.sciencestories.io/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-16

Notes: This project reimagines how linked data and media found in open collections can be combined to tell "stories" about people, in this case focusing on women in science. It demonstrates several different approaches to displaying data from Wikidata and Wikimedia Commons, including a timeline, a media viewer, and a custom view of Wikidata statements.

Science Stories (cont.)



Example view of a "story": The interface also features a customized view of the Wikidata record page.

Notes (continued from p.85): Similarly to the previous portal interface, however, this one does not fundamentally redesign how Wikidata statements are presented to users. The overall 'flow' of the story is highly structured and works best for a single type of record—for example, a person's records. Such highly structured fields may prove too limiting to describe complex artworks. The format would need to offer much greater flexibility to accommodate heterogeneous record types.

 \equiv

6 Interfaces utilizing data visualizations to express relationships in collections

Pratt Institute—Linked Jazz (US)



Example collection overview: A network diagram traces the relations between actors in the data set.



Example collection overview: Hovering over diagram nodes narrows down the view of possible relations.



Example collection overview: Clicking on diagram nodes, recenters the node and highlights relevant relations.



Reference URL: <u>https://linkedjazz.org</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-16

Notes: This project from the Semantic Media Lab at Pratt features a number of different interfaces connected to their Linked Jazz linked data dataset. This particular project uses d3.js libraries to visualize the relations between the artists (or actors in the network of relations) in the data set. The interface gives a good overview of who may have some form of relation to whom, but as with most other network diagrams reviewed here, it remains somewhat opaque as to what exactly the nature of the relationship is. At times, this is due to the lack of more detailed data in the data model, or it may simply be a limitation of the visual design.

Example collection overview: Hovering over diagram nodes in this 'filtered' state narrows down the view even further, plus features a 'preview' data box for the relevant node.

=

Forgotten Heritage (EU)



Example collection overview: A network diagram traces the relations between actors in the data set.



Example collection overview: A zoomed-in view of the subset of relations which gets highlighted once an 'actor' node is clicked.



Expression of relations

Reference URL: <u>https://www.forgottenheritage.eu/relations</u> **Date of screenshots:** 2018-11-23

Notes: This is a collaborative initiative to collect archival information relating to Avant-Garde (mostly Eastern-)European artists among several art institutions in Europe. The project presents the data in different visualization styles, e.g. timelines and network diagrams. While at first, the amount of information in the diagram makes it unreadable, there are different filters that can 'sort' the relations. Searching for a specific name zooms in on the relations connected to that name, as does clicking on any node in the diagram. Within this zoomed-in view, the 'property' of the relation becomes readable on mouse-over. While this is a visually sophisticated interface designed to a higher standard than most other prototypes or experimental projects reviewed here, its underlying structure is opaque—there is no information on the website about the database or the data model used. In addition, the project does not appear to be open source, making it harder to evaluate in terms of potential interoperability and usefulness as a reference point for the Artbase.

NYPL Labs: Beta Tools (US)



Example collection overview: A network diagram of items in the collection related to the 'term' George Washington.



 \equiv

National Gallery of Ireland, Dublin; National Gallery of Art, Washington; Musée du Louvre, Paris— Connect Vermeer (EU/US)



Example collection overview: Data visualization presenting relations between actors in the data set.



Example collection overview: Data visualization presenting relations between actors in the data set with an overlay providing explanatory text.



Example view of an item record: Each artwork item is presented within a diagram of connections to other artworks it has influenced or has been influenced by.



Example view of an item record: An explanatory overlay provides further information about the nature of the relationship between two artworks.



Reference URL: http://www.connectvermeer.org/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-23

Notes: This joint project between three art institutions brings together research within a common linked data framework (using the CIDOC-CRM standard). While the visualization relating to artists remains largely opaque (despite the explanatory overlay text), the relations between artworks are clearly visualized and articulated further through a combination of qualitative historical argumentation and quantitative methods of analysis. Opting out of the more traditional approach of the network graph diagram, this interface aims to make relationships between items in the data set more explicit. Yet, much of the backend data modelling remains opaque, thus limiting the usefulness of the interface to expert users.

7 Interfaces for net art exhibitions

Parallelograms (2010-2015)



Landing view of the exhibition: The site can be navigated via a long-scroll illustrated list of artworks, displaying the most recent first, or via an Archive page of thumbnails organized chronologically.

Example artwork view 1: The artwork is presented full screen. The only reference back to the exhibition index is the logo just visible (gray text upon black ground) in the top left corner.

White cube' exhibition approach





Example artwork view 2.



← → C O Not Secure | parallelogra

PARALLELOGRAMS

Archive / Artists / About

CAREY DENNISTON

For several years, artist Carey Denniston photographed what she argued was the same male Northern Cardinal living in her Brooklyn backyard. In late Spring of 2012, she saw two.

CASEY REAS

Casey Reas' software, prints, and installations have been featured in solo and group exhibitions at museums and galleries around the world. He lives and works in Los Angeles.

CATHERINE CZACKI

Catherine Czacki is an artist living and working in San Diego. She has a BFA from the San Francisco Art Institute and an MFA from Columbia University, and has traveled to Poland on a research grant at the University of Warsaw.

Reference URL: <u>http://parallelograms.info/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: This online exhibition is organized as a series of individual commissions, developed between 2010–2015. Artwork thumbnails are presented as clickable elements which open new, self-contained pages. The majority of the artworks are hosted on the exhibition site, but some video works are hosted elsewhere. The formula of white background, responsive image grid structure and minimal typography adhere to the portfolio and gallery websites from the late 2010s. The minimal, seemingly 'transparent' interface design adheres to the 'white cube' gallery space paradigm. No further context is provided for individual artworks.

The only contextual information provided is a list of artists' names and short biographies.



ANI GIF (2011-2014)



Landing view of the exhibition: A chronological list of artwork titles serve as links to individual commissions. Thumbnail previews are not provided.





Example artwork view 2: This piece responds to vertical scrolling, and a user click generates alternate views.



Reference URL: http://ani-gif.com/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: This online exhibition features multiple commissions by artists (each conceived as a small, stand-alone exhibition), which are all hosted on the main site's infrastructure. Some of the commissions use the vertical space of the browser for display (vertical scroll). Others use the horizontal space—via left/right arrows in a slideshow style. One of the commissions adds a secondary level of navigation and uses the browser window as a virtual 'gallery wall', adding mock frames around the artworks, and allowing horizontal panning of the wall left and right, to navigate between artworks in the 'space'.

Example artwork view 3: This work utilizes a metaphorical 3D virtual gallery space.

Artworks hosted on exhibition site

Domain Gallery—Lorna Mills (2012)



Landing view of the exhibition: The artwork previews are shown in a grid of thumbnails.





Example artwork view: The artwork opens up in a new browser tab and fills the entire browser window.

Srowser frame included in previews

Reference URL: <u>http://www.domain-gallery.net/domain_gallery_polyester.html</u> **Date of screenshots:** 2018-11-25

Notes: A solo show of animated GIFs, all hosted on the gallery website. Artworks are accessible via links from the exhibition landing page. The landing page shows the images as a grid of screenshots including the browser window itself, which serves as a framing device and makes the landing page look like a born-digital salon wall. The overall approach is minimal—within the artwork view there is no provision of navigational instructions or additional context.

Neverland Space—Walking a Line in Minecraft (2013)



Landing view of the exhibition website: Multiple exhibitions are featured as preview images.

Entry point to a single exhibition.

۲ White cube' exhibition' approach



 ✓

 Virtual 3D gallery

 environment

Example artwork view: This screenshot shows a zoomed-in mode, which features left/ right navigation arrows.



Reference URL: https://neverlandspace.com Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: This is an online exhibition representative of all shows staged at Neverland Space's website. These shows include still images, videos and GIF files staged as virtual installations within a blank 3D space. Offering multiple viewing modes within an otherwise empty virtual space gestures towards Metaverse tropes and strategies utilized in multiplayer online computer games, yet the overall aesthetic of the space remains within the 'transparent'/ 'white cube' paradigm. Some context is provided on each exhibition's entry page.

There is also an alternative exhibition navigation mode, which is a bird's eye view of all artworks.

Artworks hosted on exhibition site

Young Internet Based Artists (2013)



Landing view of the exhibition: In this screenshot the optional information overlay is switched on.

Example artwork view 1: In this screenshot the optional information overlay is switched on.



Alma Alloro 🗞
Example artwork view 2: In this screenshot the optional information overlay is switched off.



Example artwork view 3: This view features embedded video.

Reference URL: http://www.younginternetbasedartists.com/ Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: This online exhibition utilizes Gallery 404—an open-source, browserbased 3D exhibition space tool—offering a virtual gallery wall for artists to display their work and to modify the surrounding wall surfaces. The look and feel of the 3D space resembles Metaverse tropes, and other computer game virtual worlds, but it is not an immersive environment. More conventional web-based navigation tools allow the user to either experience the exhibition as a linear slide show—with left/ right arrow controls, or to jump between artworks via a list of artists' names. All navigation controls are accessible in an overlay state from an expandable menu button. While some artworks are hosted on the site itself, others rely on external sources being embedded in the virtual gallery space.

Body Anxiety (2015)



Landing view of the exhibition: A static sidebar on the left displays a list of all the exhibiting artists' names and functions as an index/ navigation menu.

Example artwork view 1.

لانک White cube' exhibition approach





Example artwork view 2: In this screenshot, the information overlay panel is switched on. Navigation within projects is horizontal, and users are able to flip through a slideshow of images left to right. Navigation between projects is vertical. Users can click on the 'Next project' button (centre right) to autoscroll down the page and reach the next project.



Reference URL: <u>http://bodyanxiety.com/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: The white space and the straightforward navigation style adhere to the portfolio and gallery websites from the late 2010s. The overall layout follows the established "index + exhibit format" popularised by the Indexhibit platform, still widely used by artists and designers to date. An 'invisible' / 'transparent' approach to the interface design adheres to the 'white cube' gallery space paradigm. Limited contextual information is provided via the 'info' button (lower right) which opens an overlay panel. The medium labels suggest where the artworks are hosted—images and animated GIFs are hosted on the exhibition site; videos are embedded from external platforms; websites are added as links only.

Example artwork view 3.



Panther Modern (2014–2016)



Landing view of the exhibition 1: Artists/ exhibition areas are listed in an index list format.

Landing view A video pans virtual space (not available Autry of The BAUD AUTY OF THE BAUD

Landing view of the exhibition 2: A video pans around the 3D virtual space in the background (not available in all browsers).

Virtual 3D gallery environment



✓ External embedded media Example artwork view 1: A series of images are stacked vertically on the page.



Example artwork view 2.



Reference URL: <u>http://panthermodern.org/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: Panther Modern is a file-based exhibition space. Each artist is allocated a 'room' to create a site-specific work. Rooms are linked visually in the images rendering the 3D-modelled space, but not structurally: i.e. users cannot navigate across the 3D modelled space or from one room page to another. The works are presented mostly as a series of .jpg images stacked in a vertical scroll. Some pages (but not all) require the no longer supported Unity-3D web player browser plug-in, and in its absence load only the static .jpg images. This indicates that the exhibition was originally conceived as a fully immersive environment, borrowing paradigms from computer game virtual worlds, but due to the Unity-3D plug-in's obsolescence this level of interaction is no longer available to the user.

Net Art Anthology (2016–2018)

 ← → C ■ https://anthology.rhizome.
NET ART ANTHOLOGY

RETELLING THE HISTORY OF NET ART FROM THE 1980S THROUGH THE PRESENT DAY.

This two-year online exhibition will present 100 artworks from net art history, restaging and contextualizing one project each week.

Devised in concert with <u>Rhizome</u>'s acclaimed digital preservation department, Net Art Anthology also aims to address the shortage of historical perspectives on a field in which even the most prominent artworks are often inaccessible. The series takes on the complex task of identifying, preserving, and presenting exemplary works in a field characterized by broad participation, diverse practices, promiscuous collaboration, and rapidly shifting formal and aesthetic standards, sketching a possible net art canon.



Landing view of the exhibition 1: A short text introduces the exhibition context.

Landing view of the exhibition 2: An overview of the exhibition is provided via chapter divisions and previews of the artworks as thumbnail images.



Example artwork view 1: A representation screenshot and entry point button are constant features across all artwork presentations.



Example artwork view 2: Further contextual supplements are presented in bite-sized 'chunks' of visual/ textual information.



Reference URL: <u>https://anthology.rhizome.org/</u> Date of screenshots: 2018-11-25

Notes: The Net Art Anthology is Rhizome's most recent exhibition of net art. During user research sessions, users were asked to comment on the interface design. Stand-out features were: the generous size of artwork previews, which provide an at-a-glance overview of the exhibition; the rich contextual information around artworks (including supplementary literature and published texts); as well as the emulated representations of artworks in their native environments.

Summary and recommendations

Summary of the review

This report has reviewed 46 different interfaces ranging from institutional to experimental projects. The review identified key features from these interfaces into 'feature cards' visible in the bottom of the page below each respective project. These features do not aim to describe all possible interactions with the interface in detail, but rather describe only key concepts or interaction paradigms which have relevance to the redesign of the ArtBase archive.

The feature cards have been organized into categories (below). Categories are informed by: archives' general data structure and software development; the various methods of entry and discovery offered to users; how object-level records are presented alongside their metadata; and finally, the different strategies employed to exhibit net art online. The cards' order is determined by the number of occurences registered during the review. This ordering system does not aim to suggest that certain features are more important because they are included in interfaces more widely, but rather to draw out which features are already well-established, and which features are only now beginning to gain popularity. Furthermore, some features may be present in multiple examples from the review, but if all of these examples are experimental projects, those features may not always be appropriate for other contexts, such as institutional collections. In any case, the 'popularity' of features would have some impact on whether they are recommended in the ArtBase redesign or not. Features that are utilized often are most likely to be interaction paradigms which have already been tested with users and proven to be useful. However, the primary criteria for selecting which features would be developed in the ArtBase redesign, is not general 'popularity' or common use. Instead, features selected for recommendation respond to some of the user stories, and reflect the user needs expressed during previous user testing sessions. These must also be compatible with the infrastructure setup already in place at Rhizome.

The following pages first organize the feature cards into categories (pp.116–7), and then match the feature cards to user story cards established in Report #2, through a series of diagrams (pp.118–123).

The concluding pages, provide a list of recommendations and detail some of the features proposed for further development in the prototyping stage of the redesign process.

Features related to database setup and data structure



Features related to entry points and discovery



Features related to single-record-level pages



Features related to net art presentation



Matching feature cards to user story cards





User story from study 2: general users



User story from study 3: researchers



User story featured as key insight

User story featured as key insight



User story from study 4: artists











Recommended features



Features related to database setup and data structure

The following features are recommended for implementation in the design prototype not because they directly map to user stories, but because they can facilitate many of the requirements identified throughout the Discovery and User Research Phase. Linked data is growing in popularity among GLAM organizations due to its capacity to handle increasingly complex relationships between database items and across heterogeneous databases. In addition, the search queries which can be performed within the database are key to transforming many of the user stories related to archive navigation and discovery into functional user interactions in the prototype interface. Explorable terminology can be particularly useful to providing richer metadata pertaining to conservation procedures or technical dependencies, which has been requested by users. The capacity for contradiction, inherent in the Wikibase/ Wikidata data models, is a further useful feature for users who want to see more metadata rather than less, and want to know the origin of metadata elements throughout the history of the archive. When new metadata is added to the database, instead of supplanting older information, it can be recorded alongside it, providing that a differentiating source and date/time stamp are also added. The capacity for recording multiple and potentially contradictory pieces of information is a valuable feature of the archive design, especially if the archive is opened once again for contributions from external users. Contributions from the public can be collected via dedicated online forms or other communication channels, or by directly contributing data as logged-in users of the database. The idea of inviting users to collaborate with archivists in archival systems is evident in the examples reviewed in this report and was also raised by some of the user stories. The Wikibase system currently in place at Rhizome can facilitate either direct user contributions via user login, or can include a prompt for users to get in touch if they want their contribution recorded in the database. It remains beyond the scope of this report to advise why using open source software is the right choice for an organization, such as Rhizome, to use as a base for their archival infrastructure. This report's recommendation is based upon evidence gathered from a number of other GLAM research projects (detailed in the Bibliography), and is informed by the interface design reviews, as well as Rhizome staff interviews conducted for this study.

Wireframe mock-ups



Explorable terminology

| Metadata statement |
|--------------------|
| Metadata value A |
| Source A |
| Metadata value B |
| Source B |

Capacity for contradiction



Invitation to contribute

Recommended features



Features related to entry points and discovery

The concept of overviews and previews in digital collection interfaces has been developed over a long period of time (see Green, et al, 2000) and is wellestablished as a standard user interaction pattern. All interfaces reviewed in this report implement variations on this pattern. The pattern also matches a number of user stories, which focused on different methods for navigation and filtering a collection in order to gain a sense of its scope. Closely related to the concept of the overview, is the multi-object timeline featuring object previews. The timeline is another well-established user interaction pattern present in many of the interfaces reviewed here. It was frequently brought up in the user stories, too, and will be a useful addition to the ArtBase interface. While the timeline can indicate relationships between collection items based on a temporal dimension, other formats for expressing relations between items will also be useful in a linked data archive, where various forms of relationships can emerge organically. The idea of seeing items as "sets" was raised numerous times in the user stories. A design pattern which can express relations, such as common exhibition histories or common technical dependencies, will match closely the requirements discussed with ArtBase users. Also related to this concept, is the possibility of adding links to pre-set queries that serve both as a navigational tool and as a tool for understanding context and relationality in the archive. This is already a common interaction pattern in interfaces using linked data infrastructure. Curated and random features are also common interaction patterns in digital collection interfaces (whether these are standard relational or linked data databases). Unsurprisingly, considering the familiarity of such patterns (which can take the form of featured lists, curated special collections, or 'random' sort buttons), these also featured heavily in the user stories generated during the User Research Phase. Finally, several user stories featured requirements for more sophisticated search tools. While almost all the interfaced reviewed in this report feature some form of search facility, those facilities are rarely capable of meeting the complex search needs of users, particularly academic researchers. However, running search queries within a linked data database with SPARQL could facilitate such search needs. But mastering SPARQL and, crucially, understanding the database model sufficiently to be able to query it, presents a steep learning curve that not everyone will be able to overcome. The development of a functional GUI to run the queries is an important goal for GLAMs who want to use linked data. So far, such efforts have been few and remain underresearched. Therefore, while developing a custom SPARQL query GUI for the ArtBase is highly recommended, such development will likely remain a long-term goal.

Wireframe mock-ups







Expression of relation / Related queries

Recommended features



Features related to single record-level pages

Of all the features present in the reviewed interfaces, the single-object timeline is the one which could address multiple user needs referred to in a range of user stories relating to temporal context, versioning of artworks, and preservation history. Yet, it is used strikingly infrequently for these purposes in existing collection interfaces. The timeline examples reviewed here tend to relate to records about people, and offer a way to view a person's lifetime in the context of historical events. For digital cultural heritage objects which undergo various changes throughout their lifecycle in archives and collections, the single-object timeline could also be a concise and impactful visual tool to represent those events. The concept of featuring metadata related to literature and events, such as exhibitions and reviews, on the artwork record page is also related to the need to position artworks in specific temporal and historical contexts. This kind of contextual metadata is already supplied by some of the interfaces reviewed, and goes some way towards meeting several of the needs outlined in the user stories. It is worth noting that implementation is also relatively straightforward if a linked data database is in use. It follows that the richer the metadata provided on the record-level page, the greater the need for this data to be visually organized. That way users can navigate and access the data they are interested in more quickly. This is where the concept of metadata clustering can be useful in meeting user needs fo granular access to data. The examples where metadata is presented in collapsible elements or sidepanels were not directly referenced by users in the user stories. Nevertheless such features are well-established interaction patterns widely in use in archival interfaces and can be useful in implementing the concept of metadata clustering, too. Connected to this question of how much metadata is available per artwork record and how that is made visible to users, is the question of how to represent incomplete or 'less rich' records without compromising reliability or trust. The strategy of using visual metadata 'richness' indicators in collection interfaces is a useful interaction pattern in such cases. A clear indicator tool will respond to the user requirement for representing as much data as possible, even if that is deemed incomplete or inadequately referenced by the internal standards of the organization. Finally, the concept of the access statement, which has been implemented to some extent in the reviewed interfaces, will need to be developed even further if it is to serve the needs of ArtBase users and address their concerns about access provision to different variants of the artworks. An access statement will be a crucial feature of the redesigned ArtBase and it will need to consider questions related to functional state and variant origin, as opposed to simply stating whether an artwork is 'on display' on not.

Wireframe mock-ups



Single-object timeline



Metadata clustering / Metadata in collapsible element



Recommended features



Features related to net art presentation

The ArtBase will not only be an archival repository for metadata, but also an archive which enables its users to access functional versions of the artworks. Therefore, its redesign must also be informed by interaction patterns relating to exhibiting net art online. The primary feedback in connection to net art's presentation raised in the user stories was an appreciation for the access to emulated environments, facilitated by Rhizome's Net Art Anthology exhibition. Users universally enjoyed interacting with the emulators and experiencing the artworks in their historical contexts. Other user stories noted the additional context (usually in the form of text) provided alongside the artwork reperformance. The concept of "rich context" alongside an artwork presentation is a feature only partially employed by the other online exhibition interfaces reviewed in this report, but can nevertheless facilitate user requirements reflected by several user stories. The question of how that context is presented in the ArtBase interface remains unresolved. One possible interaction pattern to consider is the overlay state for contextual information, a well-established device in existing interfaces, which provides some of the benefits associated with collapsible elements or sidebars in terms of facilitating a granular approach to data presentation. Finally, while the matter of representing net art in the form of screenshots was not mentioned as problematic in the user stories, it remains an important aspect to consider in the redesign, which needs to feature previews and overviews of artworks in the collection. A visual paradigm adopted by two of the exhibition examples here is a useful cue to consider. Including the browser frame in thumbnail or static screenshot representations of net art works provides visual representation of a specific temporal context, which has emerged as an important element in multiple user stories. Furthermore, in many instances the specificity of the browser is integral to the user experience of net art, and the browser is not just a frame for the artwork, but a critical part of it. Hence, screenshots of artworks in the ArtBase should include a browser frame, too.

Wireframe mock-ups





Emulated environments

Browser frame included in previews



Overlay state for contextual information

 \equiv

Bibliography

Bates, M. J. (2007) What is browsing - Really? A model drawing from behavioural science research, *Information Research*, 12 (4), pp. 1–13.

Coburn, J. (2016) I don't know what I'm looking for: Better understanding public usage and behaviours with Tyne & Wear Archives & Museums online collections, in: Proceedings of MW2016: Museums and the Web 2016, Los Angeles, CA, USA, April 6–9, 2016.

Dijkshoorn, C., Jongma, L., Aroyo, L., Ossenbruggen, J. Van and Schreiber, G. (2018) The Rijksmuseum Collection as Linked Data, *Semantic Web – Interoperability, Usability, Applicability*, 9 (2), pp. 221–230.

Dörk, M., Carpendale, S. and Williamson, C. (2011) The Information Flaneur : A Fresh Look at Information Seeking, in: Proceedings of CHI 2011, Vancouver, BC, Canada, May 7–12, 2011.

Dörk, M., Pietsch, C. and Credico, G. (2017) One view is not enough, *Information Design Journal*, 23 (1), pp. 39–47. DOI:10.1075/idj.23.1.06dor.

Drucker, J. (2013) Performative Materiality and Theoretical Approaches to Interface, *Digital Humanities Quarterly*, 7 (1). Available from: <u>http://www.</u> digitalhumanities.org/dhq/vol/7/1/000143/000143.html [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Glinka, K., Pietsch, C. and Dörk, M. (2017) Past Visions and Reconciling Views : Visualizing Time , Texture and Themes in Cultural Collections, *Digital Humanities Quarterly*, 11 (2).

Greene, S., Marchionini, G., Plaisant, C. and Shneiderman, B. (2000) Previews and overviews in digital libraries: Designing surrogates to support visual information seeking, *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 51 (4), pp. 380–393.

Hibberd, G. (2016) Metaphors for discovery : how interfaces shape our relationship with library collections, in: Proceedings of Digital Humanities Australasia 2014, Perth, Australia, March 18-21, 2014.

Hill, T., Charles, V., Stiller, J. and Isaac, A. (2016) Searching for Inspiration: User Needs and Search Architecture in Europeana Collections, in: Proceeings of ASIST 2016, Copenhagen, Denmark, October 14-18, 2016.

Hinchcliffe, G. and Whitelaw, M. (2015) Colouring digital collections: Challenges and opportunities for the use of colour metadata in cultural collections, in: Proceedings of MWA2015: Museums and the Web Asia 2015, Melbourne, Australia, October 5-8, 2015.

Hogarty, S. B., Winesmith, K., Hrudka, M. and Schechter, B. (2015) Art + Data: Building the SFMOMA Collection API, in: Proceedings of MW2015: Museums and the Web 2015, Chicago, IL, USA, April 8-11, 2015.

Kräutli, F. (2016) Visualising Cultural Data: Exploring Digital Collections Through Timeline Visualisations. PhD Thesis, Royal College of Art.

Kreiseler, S., Brüggemann, V. and Dörk, M. (2017) Tracing exploratory modes in digital collections of museum Web sites using reverse information architecture, *First Monday*, 22 (4). Available from: <u>https://firstmonday.org/ojs/index.php/fm/</u> article/view/6984 [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Oates, G. and Whitelaw, M. (2018) Making and Remaking Collections Online, Open Library of Humanities, 4 (1), pp. 1–22. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.16995/olh.325</u> [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Ruecker, S., Radzikowska, M. and Sinclair, S. (2011) *Visual interface design for digital cultural heritage: A guide to richprospect browsing*. Farnham, Surrey, England: Ashgate.

Sherratt, T. (2015) Seams and edges: Dreams of aggregation, access & discovery in a broken world, in: Proceedings of ALIA Online 2015, Sydney, Australia, February 3, 2015.

Stack, J. (2018) Exploring museum collections online: Some background reading, Science Museum Group Digital Lab. Available from: <u>https://lab.sciencemuseum.</u> <u>org.uk/exploring-museum-collections-online-some-background-reading-</u> <u>da5a332fa2f8</u> [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Thornton, K., Cochrane, E., Ledoux, T., Caron, B. and Wilson, C. (2017) Modeling the Domain of Digital Preservation in Wikidata, in: Proceedings of iPRES'17, Kyoto, Japan, September 25–29, 2017.

Thornton, K., Seals-nutt, K., Cochrane, E. and Wilson, C. (2018) Wikidata for Digital Preservation, in: Proceedings of iPRES'18, Cambridge, MA, USA, September 24–27, 2018.

Vane, O. (2017) Exploring the Cooper Hewitt collection with timelines and tags, Cooper Hewitt Labs. Available from: <u>https://labs.cooperhewitt.org/2017/exploring-</u> <u>the-cooper-hewitt-collection-with-timelines-and-tags-guest-post-by-olivia-vane/</u> [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Vane, O. (2018) Visualising the Royal Photographic Society collection, V&A Blog. Available from: <u>https://www.vam.ac.uk/blog/digital/visualising-the-royal-</u> photographic-society-collection [Accessed 1 Dec 2018] Whitelaw, M. (2015) Escaping the Search Box: Contexts and Precedents for Generous Interfaces, *Digital Humanities Quarterly*, 9 (1). Available from: http://www.digitalhumanities.org/dhq/vol/9/1/000205/000205.html [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Whitelaw, M. (2018) Mashups and Matters of Concern: Generative Approaches to Digital Collections, *Open Library of Humanities*, 4 (1), pp. 1–28. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.16995/olh.291</u> [Accessed 1 Dec 2018]

Whitelaw, M. (2015) Representing Digital Collections, in: Carlin, D. and Vaughan, L. (eds.) *Performing Digital: Multiple Perspectives on a Living Archive*. Farnham, Surrey, England: Ashgate, pp. 77–96.

Windhager, F., Federico, P., Glinka, K., Marian, D., Miksch, S. and Mayr, E. (2018) Visualization of Cultural Heritage Collection Data : State of the Art and Future Challenges, *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*. DOI:10.1109/TVCG.2018.2830759.

Windhager, F., Federico, P., Mayr, E., Schreder, G. and Smuc, M. (2016) A Review of Information Visualization Approaches and Interfaces to Digital Cultural Heritage Collections, in: Proceedings of the 9th Forum Media Technology 2016, St. Pölten, Austria, November 24 2016. pp. 74–81.

Copyright statement

This report is licensed under the CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license. Read the full text here: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/legalcode

Note on images: some screenshots in this report may feature artworks licensed under different terms, and the author of the report does not hold any rights over these images. Any use of representative images in this report is for educational purposes only.

